FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/20/2019 10:48 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/20/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97996-1 No. 78399-8-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE PRESBYTERY OF SEATTLE, et al.,

Respondents

v.

JEFF SCHULZ, ELLEN SCHULZ, LIZ CEDERGREEN, DAVID MARTIN, LINDSEY McDOWELL, GEORGE NORRIS, NATHAN ORONA, and KATHRYN OSTROM, as trustees of The First Presbyterian Church of Seattle, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Appellants

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ostrom

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND INTRODUCTION

The First Presbyterian Church of Seattle ("FPCS") is a nonprofit corporation that, for nearly 150 years, governed its own affairs and owned its own property. Jeff and Ellen Schulz are FPCS's former pastors, and Liz Cedergreen, David Martin, Lindsey McDowell, George Norris, Nathan Orona, and Kathryn Ostrom are FPCS's last elected trustees (the "Board"). After FPCS's congregation voted to disaffiliate from the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.) ("PCUSA"), a commission created by Presbytery of Seattle—PCUSA's regional branch—unilaterally ruled that it had authority to replace FPCS's trustees without a member vote; that FPCS's validly amended articles and bylaws were without force and effect; that FPCS's downtown Seattle property was held in trust for PCUSA; and that the Schulzes' pre-existing employment agreements were unenforceable.

This appeal raises the issue of whether Washington courts should decide church-related disputes over property ownership, corporate control and employment rights using "neutral-principles of law," or whether they must absolutely defer to the tribunals of hierarchical churches—even where, as here, the dispute does not involve religious doctrine and can be decided on secular grounds. Although the U.S. Supreme Court and the vast majority of states follow the neutral-principles approach, the trial court and Court of Appeals felt constrained to apply the antiquated "hierarchical deference" approach recognized by this Court in *Presbytery of Seattle, Inc. v. Rohrbaugh*, 79 Wn.2d 367, 485 P.2d 615 (1971).

Under the deference approach, the outcome was preordained. Even though the commission's self-interested "findings" on wholly secular issues were contrary to settled Washington law, the lower courts concluded that *Rohrbaugh* compelled them to affirm the commission's report without scrutiny. No principle of *stare decisis* requires continued adherence to *Rohrbaugh*. On the contrary, fairness, predictability, and the First Amendment compel rejection of hierarchical deference. When neutral-principles are applied here, Presbytery of Seattle has no legal right to govern FPCS's corporate affairs or disregard lawful employment agreements with its pastors, and PCUSA has no trust interest in FPCS's property. This Court should accept review, overturn *Rohrbaugh*, and hold that Washington courts must apply neutral-principles to resolve secular church disputes.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its Published Opinion on October 7, 2019 and its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration on November 27, 2019. A copy of the Opinion and Order are attached at **Appendix A**.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In *Rohrbaugh* this Court held that Washington courts must defer to the decisions of church tribunals when resolving disputes involving hierarchical churches—even when the dispute raises purely secular issues. *Rohrbaugh* is both incorrect and harmful, and its legal underpinnings have collapsed in the wake of the U.S. Supreme Court's later approval of the neutral-principles approach in *Jones v. Wolf*, 443 U.S. 595, 99 S. Ct. 3020, 61 L. Ed. 2d 775 (1979). The overwhelming majority of state courts apply

neutral-principles to resolve disputes involving church property, corporate affairs and contracts. Should this Court overturn *Rohrbaugh* and adopt the neutral-principles approach to resolving secular church disputes? **Yes.**

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This case arises from a local church's disaffiliation from a national church. The First Presbyterian Church of Seattle is Washington nonprofit corporation founded in 1874. Over the years, FPCS's members voted to affiliate with various Presbyterian denominations, most recently PCUSA. Several years ago, differences arose between FPCS and PCUSA's regional council, Presbytery of Seattle ("Seattle Presbytery"). Those differences had nothing to do with religious doctrine or church polity; they arose out of Seattle Presbytery's ongoing interference with FPCS's operations and ministry. In November 2015, in strict conformity with Washington law, over 90% of FPCS's congregation voted to amend the church's articles of incorporation and ratify new bylaws to effectuate a disaffiliation from PCUSA so that the church could join a different Presbyterian organization.

Seattle Presbytery viewed FPCS's disaffiliation as an opportunity to seize FPCS's valuable downtown property, and it unilaterally appointed an administrative commission to "investigate." Months later, after FPCS had severed all legal and ecclesiastical ties with PCUSA, the commission issued a report finding that it had retained "original jurisdiction" over

¹ If this Court accepts review, overturns *Rohrbaugh*, and holds that the parties' claims must be decided under neutral-principles, the Court may either remand the case to the lower courts for such a determination or reach the merits itself. A discussion of the undisputed facts demonstrating why Petitioners will prevail under a neutral-principles analysis is fully set forth in their respective briefs to the Court of Appeals.

FPCS. Contrary to FPCS's articles and bylaws, as well as Washington's nonprofit corporations law, the commission purported to remove the Board and appoint replacement trustees without congregational vote. Going further, the commission found, based on a provision PCUSA had written into its own constitution, that FPCS held all of its property in "trust" for the benefit of PCUSA—even though neither PCUSA nor Presbytery ever paid a cent toward the purchase of the property, FPCS held title to that property in its name alone, and FPCS never granted PCUSA an interest in the property.

The next day, Seattle Presbytery sued the Board in the name of FPCS to obtain judicial approval for its corporate takeover and property grab. It worked. On May 27, 2016, relying on *Rohrbaugh* and without regard to Washington corporate, property, or trust law, the trial court ruled that Seattle Presbytery's self-serving findings were "conclusive and binding," that the duly promulgated amendments to the church's articles and bylaws were void, that Seattle Presbytery's unelected appointees were entitled to govern FPCS, and that FPCS held its property in trust for the benefit of PCUSA. Seattle Presbytery ousted the Board from their leadership positions, seized control of FPCS's property, assets and corporate affairs, and forced the church's congregation to worship in exile.

Seattle Presbytery then capitalized on the trial court's ruling to renege FPCS's employment agreements with FPCS's former co-pastors, Jeff and Ellen Schulz. In response to threats from Seattle Presbytery, prior to disaffiliating from PCUSA in November 2015, the Board had entered into severance agreements with the Schulzes designed to retain their

services and compensate them in the event Seattle Presbytery seized control of FPCS and terminated their pastorships. After the May 2016 ruling, Seattle Presbytery's administrative commission issued a supplemental report finding, among other things, that the Schulzes' employment agreements were invalid and, even if they were valid, that Seattle Presbytery and FPCS had "good cause" to terminate the Schulzes' employment.

In September 2016, Seattle Presbytery (again purporting to act on behalf of FPCS) filed a separate lawsuit against the Schulzes, which was consolidated with its still ongoing action against the Board. In March 2017, the trial court granted Seattle Presbytery's motion for summary judgment. Again relying on *Rohrbaugh*, the court concluded that it was required to defer to the administrative commission's findings regarding the validity and enforceability of the Schulzes' severance agreements—even though it rejected Presbytery's claim that "good cause" existed to terminate the Schulzes' employment. Following entry of final judgment in both cases, the Board's and Schulzes' appeals were consolidated and transferred to the Court of Appeals after this Court denied direct review.

In its Published Opinion, a unanimous Court of Appeals held that the doctrine of vertical *stare decisis* required it to follow *Rohrbaugh*, and that only this Court could reconsider its own precedent. Opinion at 3, 14-15. The Court further held that *Rohrbaugh* and its progeny require Washington courts to defer to the decision of the highest tribunal of a hierarchical church regarding "any civil dispute." *Id.* at 3, 24. The Court of Appeals did not address the Board's argument that Washington courts

5

must abandon hierarchical deference and apply neutral-principles to avoid violating the First Amendment's Establishment and Free Exercise Clauses.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review because this case involves issues of substantial public interest and questions of constitutional law, as well as a conflict among the decisions of this state's courts. RAP 13.4(b)(1) - (4).

A. This Court Should Accept Review Because Resolution Of Secular Church Disputes Is An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance; This Court Should Overturn Rohrbaugh And Adopt The Neutral-Principles Approach.

The Court of Appeals was handcuffed by *Rohrbaugh's* antiquated rule of hierarchical deference. This Court is not. In the 50 years since *Rohrbaugh*, the legal landscape has changed; the U.S. Supreme Court, and the vast majority of states and scholars have recognized the superiority and constitutional necessity of the neutral-principles approach.² This Court should as well. "[S]tare decisis is neither a straightjacket nor an immutable rule; it leaves room for courts to balance their respect for precedent against insights gleaned from new developments, and to make informed judgments as to whether earlier decisions retain preclusive force." *W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. Nw. Reg'l Council of Carpenters*, 180 Wn.2d 54, 66, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

² Following *Jones*, thirty-six states have adopted neutral-principles as the exclusive means to decide church disputes, while only six have chosen to retain hierarchical deference. (One state, Iowa, permits its courts to use either method.) Notably, almost all of the states that retained the deference approach did so shortly after *Jones* was decided in 1979 (Florida (1980); Iowa (1983); Michigan (1982); Nevada (1980); New Jersey (1980); West Virginia (1984))—before the doctrine was subjected to near uniform condemnation in the caselaw and scholarship. *See* **Appendix B**.

This Court will reject its precedent if it is "incorrect and harmful." In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). "An opinion can be incorrect when it was announced or ... because the passage of time and the development of legal doctrines undermine its bases." State v. Abdulle, 174 Wn.2d 411, 415-16, 275 P.3d 1113 (2012). The meaning of "incorrect' is not limited to any particular type of error," and may be found if a rule is contrary to public policy or constitutional protections. State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 864, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). "A decision may be 'harmful' for a variety of reasons as well," but "the common thread [is] the decision's detrimental impact on the public interest." Id. at 865. Finally, even without a showing of error or harm, this Court can reconsider a decision where "the legal underpinnings of [the] precedent have changed or disappeared altogether." W.G. Clark Constr., 180 Wn.2d at 66. Rohrbaugh satisfies all these criteria.

1. Rohrbaugh's Legal Underpinnings Have Changed And Its Premise That The First Amendment Required Hierarchical Deference Was Incorrect.

Rohrbaugh derives from Watson v. Jones, 80 U.S. 679, 20 L. Ed. 666 (1872). In Watson, the U.S. Supreme Court held that when "questions of discipline, or of faith, or ecclesiastical rule, custom, or law have been decided by the highest ... church ... judicatories ..., the legal tribunals must accept such decisions as final, and as binding on them[.]" Id. at 727. This "deference" approach applies only if the church is "hierarchical"; if the church is "congregational," courts apply "the ordinary principles which govern voluntary associations." Id. at 725-26. Thus, the deference approach

results "in two rules, one for 'hierarchical' churches ... and another for all other churches (... i.e., neutral principles of law)." *Presbytery of Ohio Valley, Inc. v. OPC, Inc.*, 973 N.E.2d 1099, 1106 (Ind. 2012).

For hierarchical churches, the result of "compulsory deference" is "foreordained." *Jones*, 443 U.S. at 605-06; *Bjorkman v. Protestant Church in the USA of the Diocese of Lexington*, 759 S.W.2d 583, 586 (Ky. 1988) ("in every case compulsory deference would result in the triumph of the hierarchical organization"). The national church always wins—even if the dispute is secular. *Fonken v. Cmty. Church of Kamrar*, 339 N.W.2d 810, 817 (Iowa 1983). "[U]nder the hierarchical deference approach, the decision of the hierarchy will invariably be deferred to, and thus no secular areas of the law have any direct application whatsoever." J. Hassler, *A Multitude of Sins? Constitutional Standards for Legal Resolution of Church Property Disputes in a Time of Escalating Intradenominational Strife*, 35 Pepp. L. Rev. 399, 418 (2008) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

For over one hundred years, *Watson*'s deference approach was the *only* approach recognized by the U.S. Supreme Court. Although it was decided under federal common law, later opinions referred to *Watson*'s deference rule in constitutional terms. *Presbyterian Church of the U.S. v. Mary Elizabeth Blue Hull Mem'l Presbyterian Church*, 393 U.S. 440, 445, 89 S. Ct. 601, 21 L. Ed. 2d 658 (1969); *Kedroff v. St. Nicholas Cathedral of Russian Orthodox Church in N.A.*, 344 U.S. 94, 116, 73 S. Ct. 143, 97 L. Ed. 120 (1957). Not surprisingly, Washington courts concluded that *Watson* required them to defer to hierarchical church tribunals in church

8

disputes as well. See Wilkeson v. Rector, etc., of St. Luke's Parish of Tacoma, 176 Wash. 377, 384, 29 P.2d 748 (1934); Hoffman v. Tieton View Cmty. M.E. Church, 33 Wn.2d 716, 729, 207 P.2d 699 (1949).

This culminated in *Rohrbaugh*, decided in 1971. In *Rohrbaugh*, minority members of a local church asked presbytery to strike them from the rolls and let them take the church property. 79 Wn.2d at 368. Presbytery refused. This Court noted that Washington had long followed *Watson* and, thus, presbytery's decision was binding. Notably, *Rohrbaugh* considered the case to be like *Blue Hull*, in which the U.S. Supreme Court reversed a Georgia decision on First Amendment grounds—finding *Watson* to have a "clear constitutional ring." Put simply, *Rohrbaugh* understood hierarchical deference to be constitutionally required. It certainly did not believe there was an alternative approach. Indeed, *Rohrbaugh* criticized the Georgia courts' use of civil law concepts following remand in *Blue Hull*.

Rohrbaugh's understanding of the constitutional limits on resolution of church disputes turned out to be wrong. In *Jones*, decided in 1979, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the First Amendment did not require deference. 393 U.S. at 604. The Court approved the "neutral-principles" approach Justice Brennan referenced in *Blue Hull* and espoused in *Md. & Va. Eldership of Churches of God v. Church of God at Sharpsburg, Inc.*, 396 U.S. 367, 368, 90 S. Ct. 499, 24 L. Ed. 2d 582 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring). Although states could adopt different approaches, the Court recognized the clear advantages of neutral-principles:

[I]t is completely secular in operation, and yet flexible enough to accommodate all forms of religious organization and polity. The method relies exclusively on objective, well-established concepts of trust and property law familiar to lawyers and judges. It thereby promises to free civil courts completely from entanglement in questions of religious doctrine, polity, and practice.

Jones, 443 U.S. at 603. Thus, and particularly relevant here, courts need not defer to a provision in a national church constitution purporting to create a trust over local church property unless the local church had agreed "in some legally cognizable form," such as a deed or express trust. *Id.* at 606.

2. Rohrbaugh's Hierarchical Deference Approach Is Harmful And Against Public Policy; The Neutral-Principles Approach Promotes Fairness, Consistency, And Equality Of Application.

This Court has not reconsidered *Rohrbaugh* in light of *Jones*.³
"Because the neutral-principles-of-law approach permits greater fairness, consistency, and equality of application," *Presbytery of Ohio Valley*, 973
N.E.2d at 1107, the vast majority of states have adopted neutral-principles. *Masterson v. Diocese of Nw. Texas*, 422 S.W.3d 594, 606-07 & n.6 (Tex. 2014). Indeed, as discussed in the next section, many state courts have done so because the deference approach is itself unconstitutional. *All Saints*

³ In its most recent decision touching on the issue, a majority of the justices questioned *Rohrbaugh*'s application in cases like this one. In *Erdman v. Chapel Hill Presbyterian Church*, 175 Wn.2d 659, 286 P.3d 357 (2012), which involved a church's right to select and supervise employees, four justices noted that neutral-principles might be appropriate in secular church property cases, *see* 175 Wn.2d at 675-76 & n. 9, and three justices concluded more broadly that the "neutral principles of law approach is the best way to protect churches from judicial interference and individuals from the categorical deprivation of their rights." *Id.* at 694. Indeed, the only thing the justices wholly agreed upon was that *Rohrbaugh* required deference only when one *willingly* submits a dispute to a church tribunal for decision, *id.* at 682 & 684—something that did not occur here.

Parish Waccamaw v. Protestant Episcopal Church in Diocese of S.C., 685 S.E.2d 163, 172 (S.C. 2009). This Court should likewise reject the deference approach as harmful, and hold that Washington courts must apply neutral principles to secular church disputes—deferring to church authority only where the dispute turns on interpretation of religious doctrine.

Under the neutral-principles approach, courts resolve property right disputes, for example, by examining the "language of the deeds, the terms of the local church charters, the state statutes ..., and the provisions in the constitution of the general church concerning the ownership and control of church property." *Jones*, 443 U.S. at 603-04. At the same time, the neutral-principles approach does not circumvent First Amendment protections:

In undertaking such an examination [of a church constitution], a civil court must take special care to scrutinize the document in purely secular terms, and not to rely on religious precepts in determining whether the document indicates that the parties have intended to create a trust.

Id. Thus, if the nature of the "dispute require[s] the civil court to resolve a religious controversy," the court must abstain to church authority. *Id.* In short, the neutral-principles approach "simply allocates decisions to the proper forum: ecclesiastical decisions are made by the church and secular decisions are made by the courts." *Masterson*, 422 S.W.3d at 599.

"The State has an obvious and legitimate interest in the peaceful resolution of property disputes, and in providing a civil forum where the ownership of church property can be determined conclusively." *Jones*, 443 U.S. at 602. Under the deference approach, however, many local churches have no meaningful access to a civil forum. "Because congregational

churches and their members are dealt with by civil courts on the same terms as secular voluntary associations, aggrieved members may seek civil court protection of certain common-law rights in their relation with the church. Under the hierarchical-deference standard, members of a hierarchical or semi-hierarchical congregations, on the other hand, may be deprived of all such rights as long as the denomination determines they should be." Hassler, *supra*, at 428-29. That is what happened here.

The deference approach is particularly unfair because it invariably favors the hierarchical church by permitting it to rely on the self-interested findings of its own tribunals and the provisions of its own constitution to resolve a dispute. If the constitution forbids disaffiliation, or permits it to assert control over the local church and its property, nothing else matters. Not surprisingly, as here, when a church tribunal decides an issue, the national church always wins. *Jones*, 443 U.S. at 602-03; *Bjorkman*, 759 S.W.2d at 586; *All Saints Parish*, 685 S.E.2d at 171. Neutral principles, by contrast, furthers the state's interest in deciding secular disputes, and does so equally for all types of churches based on settled civil law.

The deference approach also relies on a flawed theory of implied consent, not facts, to find that the local church intended to submit its affairs to the national church's hierarchical authority. *Rohrbaugh*, 79 Wn.2d at 371 ("All who unite themselves to such a body (the general church) do so with an implied consent to (its) government, and are bound to submit to it." (quoting *Watson*, 80 U.S. at 729)). "*Watson* assumes that the 'essence' of membership in a hierarchical church is submission to the higher church

12

authority, so it awards the property based on deference to the hierarchy." M. McConnell & L. Goodrich, *On Resolving Church Property Disputes*, 58 Ariz. L. Rev. 307, 315 (2016). In short, once a local church affiliates with a national church, courts must blithely assume that the local church consented to forfeit its corporate independence on all matters—and for all time.

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