FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/10/2020 3:11 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97996-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

The PRESBYTERY OF SEATTLE, FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF SEATTLE, ROBERT WALLACE, and WILLIAM LONGBRAKE,

Respondents,

v.

JEFF SCHULZ, ELLEN SCHULZ, LIZ CEDERGREEN, DAVID MARTIN, LINDSEY McDOWELL, GEORGE NORRIS, NATHAN ORONA, and KATHRYN OSTROM,

Petitioners.

The PRESBYTERY OF SEATTLE, FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF SEATTLE, ROBERT WALLACE, and WILLIAM LONGBRAKE,

Respondents,

v.

JEFF SCHULZ and ELLEN SCHULZ,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Because ecclesiastical questions underlie the parties' dispute, the polity approach necessarily governs.

In *Presbytery of Seattle, Inc. v. Rohrbaugh*, 79 Wn.2d 367, 373, 485 P.2d 615 (1971), this Court held unanimously that

where a right of property in an action before a civil court depends upon a question of doctrine, ecclesiastical law, rule or custom, or church government, and the question has been decided by the highest tribunal within the organization to which it has been carried, the civil court will accept that decision as conclusive.

The former leaders claim that the legal underpinnings of *Rohrbaugh* "have collapsed in the wake of . . . *Jones v. Wolf*[.]" Pet. at 2. But *Jones v. Wolf* held that "civil courts defer to the resolution of issues of religious doctrine or polity by the highest court of a hierarchical church organization." 443 U.S. at 602; *accord Serbian E. Orthodox Diocese for the U.S. & Can. v. Milivojevich*, 426 U.S. 696, 709 (1976) (in such cases, "the First and Fourteenth Amendments mandate that civil courts shall not disturb the decisions of the highest ecclesiastical tribunal within a church of hierarchical polity, but must accept such decisions as binding . . ."). Because this case turns on issues of religious doctrine and polity, *Jones* reinforces the correctness of the Court of Appeals' decision to apply *Rohrbaugh* and, as that case requires, to hold for respondents.

The premise of the former leaders' petition—that this dispute "raises

purely secular issues," Pet. at 2—is false.⁶ Consider first their claim that a Presbyterian congregation may "disaffiliate" from the Church by taking a vote at a congregational meeting. The Church constitution specifically provides otherwise, based on a fundamental theological principle: the Church is unitary. CP 631, 650. The Church constitution also provides that, if there is a schism in a congregation, the presbytery determines who is the true church and therefore entitled to the property.⁷ The issue of who is the "true church" within a hierarchical denomination is, by definition, one of hierarchical polity. Here, the AC determined that the true church consisted of the members of FPCS who opposed the former leaders' actions.⁸

Consider next the former leaders' claim that they are the legitimate leaders of FPCS because they were elected as trustees by the congregation. Even if their self-election is ignored, the Church constitution makes clear

⁶ When they urged the congregation to vote for "disaffiliation," the former leaders used explicitly religious language. *See* CP 568. This is unsurprising. As the court observed in *Heartland Presbytery v. Presbyterian Church of Stanley, Inc.*, 390 P.3d 581, 592 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017), "rarely—if ever—do disputes over the ownership or control of church property arise in a secular vacuum."

⁷ "If there is a schism within the membership of a congregation and the presbytery is unable to effect a reconciliation . . ., the presbytery shall determine if one of the factions is entitled to the property because it is identified by the presbytery as the true church within the [Church]. This determination does not depend upon which faction received the majority vote within the congregation at the time of the schism." CP 696–97 (G-4.0207).

⁸ "Any right the presently disassociated members previously had to the beneficial use of the assets of [FPCS] was predicated upon their membership in the [Church]. They became strangers to it upon their disassociation." *See Apostolic Faith Mission of Portland, Or. v. Christian Evangelical Church*, 55 Wn.2d 364, 368, 347 P.2d 1059 (1960).

that trustees act at the direction of the session and that the members of the session may be replaced by the presbytery if it finds the session to be unable or unwilling to manage wisely its affairs. As this Court noted in *Rohrbaugh*, "under the church constitution, the right to control the use of the property is vested not in the trustees but in the Session, the Session in turn being subject to control by the Presbytery" 79 Wn.2d at 370.

Fundamental issues of church government are inherently religious. "[Q]uestions of church discipline and the composition of the church hierarchy are at the core of ecclesiastical concern[.]" *Milivojevich*, 426 U.S. at 717; *cf. New v. Kroeger*, 84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 464, 474–78 (Cal. Ct. App. 2008) (even under "neutral principles," courts must defer to church's ecclesiastical determination of who were the true members of the parish and the bishop's replacement of former vestry). Applying the polity approach to such issues is not just permissible; it is mandatory.

Ecclesiastical questions are equally fundamental to the Schulzes' severance claim. Church doctrine holds that a severance agreement changes a pastor's terms of call and therefore requires congregational and presbytery approval. Absent such approval, a severance agreement with a Presbyterian

⁹ The *Book of Order* provides: "After a thorough investigation, and after full opportunity to be heard has been accorded . . ., the presbytery may conclude that the session of a congregation is unable or unwilling to manage wisely its affairs [The administrative] commission shall assume original jurisdiction of the existing session, if any, which shall cease to act until such time as the presbytery shall otherwise direct." CP 687 (G-3.0303.e).

pastor is invalid. CP 23, 671 (G-2.0804), 664 (G-2.0502). Church doctrine also states that a pastor's renunciation of Church jurisdiction terminates that person's ministry. See CP 23–24, 667–68 (G-2.0509). These principles of church doctrine are fatal to the Schulzes' claims under their purported severance agreements. Because the U.S. Constitution requires civil courts to accept the Church's interpretation of its own doctrine, the former leaders' petition for review must be rejected.

B. Even if the ecclesiastical questions underlying this case could be ignored, the polity approach is both sound and salutary.

The former leaders attack *Rohrbaugh* as antiquated and seek review to overturn it. Even if this Court could accept the former leaders' claim that this inherently religious dispute is "purely secular" and involves only the right to property, it should reject their arguments. "A party asking this court to reject its precedent faces a challenging task. The party must show not merely that it would have been reasonable to reach a different conclusion in the first instance, but that the prior decision is so incorrect and harmful that it would be unreasonable to adhere to it." *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 690, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016). *Rohrbaugh* is neither incorrect nor harmful, and it is supported by both reason and the First Amendment.

Rohrbaugh employs the same rule of decision that courts apply to disputes involving all kinds of voluntary organizations: After looking at

governing documents to determine where decision-making authority resides, courts defer to that authority. See, e.g., Golden Lodge No. 13 v. Grand Lodge of Indep. Order of Odd Fellows, 80 P.3d 857, 859 (Colo. App. 2003) (affirming decision by governing body of fraternal organization to revoke local chapter's charter and seize its assets); Grand Aerie, Fraternal Order of Eagles v. Nat'l Bank of Wash., Kent Branch, 13 Wn.2d 131, 139, 124 P.2d 203 (1942) (same); Anderson v. Enter. Lodge No. 2, 80 Wn. App. 41, 49-50, 906 P.2d 962 (1995) (failure to pursue organization's internal appeal process barred judicial consideration of former members' claims); Couie v. Local Union No. 1849 United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners of Am., 51 Wn.2d 108, 114, 316 P.2d 473 (1957) (same); Musicians' Protective Union Local No. 274 A.F. of M. v. Am. Fed'n of Musicians of the U.S. and Can., 329 F. Supp. 1226, 1236 (E.D. Pa. 1971) (the governing board's construction of constitution and bylaws "is binding on the membership and will be recognized by the courts"; revocation of local charter upheld).

Contrary to the former leaders' claims, this rule does not raise any constitutional concerns. The U.S. Supreme Court has already spoken on this issue: It held that the First Amendment permits a state to "adopt any one of various approaches for settling church property disputes," including the polity approach that *Rohrbaugh* endorses. *Jones*, 443 U.S. at 602. Washington is hardly alone in preferring the polity approach. *See*, *e.g.*,

Heartland Presbytery v. Presbyterian Church of Stanley, Inc., 390 P.3d 581, 591 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017); Newton Presbyterian Church v. Smith, 2017 WL 7053909, at *5 (Mass. Suffolk Super. Ct. Nov. 17, 2017); Chabad-Lubavitch of Mich. v. Schuchman, 853 N.W.2d 390, 398 (Mich. Ct. App. 2014), rev'd in part on other grounds, 862 N.W.2d 648 (Mich. 2015) (Mem.); Protestant Episcopal Church in Diocese of N.J. v. Graves, 417 A.2d 19, 24 (N.J. 1980). The former leaders want Washington to become the first and only state to disregard Jones v. Wolf and hold that the polity approach is forbidden as a matter of constitutional principle. 10

Experience in other jurisdictions reinforces this Court's skepticism about "neutral principles." The doctrine has sown chaos; 12 it rewards

¹⁰ See Brief of Respondents at 38–39 (distinguishing cases purportedly holding that the First Amendment requires adoption of neutral principles). Although the former leaders fail to disclose this, the California Supreme Court has specifically rejected their argument that a rule requiring deference to a church denomination is unconstitutional. As that court held, such a rule (there, a state law) does not establish religion but rather "promotes the free exercise rights of persons to form and join a religious association that is constructed and governed as they choose." Episcopal Church Cases, 189 P.3d 66, 83 (Cal. 2009).

¹¹ Rohrbaugh considered and rejected the analysis set forth in Presbyterian Church in the U.S. v. E. Heights Presbyterian Church, 167 S.E.2d 658 (Ga. 1969), which was cited in Jones v. Wolf as an application of "neutral principles." See 79 Wn.2d at 369–72; 443 U.S. at 600–01. As the Court of Appeals has noted, Rohrbaugh held that the polity approach is superior to "neutral principles." See Choi v. Sung, 154 Wn. App. 303, 315 n.16, 225 P.3d 425 (2010) (Rohrbaugh disavowed "neutral principles"); Org. for Preserving Constitution of Zion Lutheran Church of Auburn v. Mason, 49 Wn. App. 441, 447, 743 P.2d 848 (1987) ("When the Washington Supreme Court had the opportunity to rule upon a church property dispute, the court expressly rejected the neutral principles method and, instead, reaffirmed the polity approach of Watson v. Jones.").

¹² A judge describes the legal background for religious disputes following *Jones* as "a welter of contradictory and confusing case law largely devoid of certainty, consistency, or sustained analysis." Jeffrey B. Hassler, Comment, *A Multitude of Sins?*, 35 Pepp. L. Rev. 399, 432 (2008) (quoting John E. Fennelly, *Property Disputes and Religious Schisms: Who*

manipulation and deceit;¹³ and it encourages courts to become embroiled in religious disputes. In asking this Court to ignore the AC's decision, the former leaders are not just seeking to have a civil court substitute its judgment for that of a higher church council so that they can avoid application of Presbyterian polity, evade Church discipline, and override the Church's trust interest. They are, in effect, asking this Court to declare them to be the "true church" of FPCS, in direct contravention of the AC's determination and Church law.

C. The rule that the former leaders urge upon this Court would violate respondents' rights.

The former leaders ask this Court declare that a local church within a hierarchical denomination must be treated just like a congregational church, controlled by the will of the majority in the congregation. The Church, however, is unitary, and its very name reflects representative leadership by presbyters in ascending councils, from the session to the presbytery to the synod to the general assembly. Unlike a congregational church, which has no higher authority to answer to, the Church's unity

Is The Church?, 9 St. Thomas L. Rev. 319, 353 (1997)). Hassler identifies six separate approaches that courts might take in applying "neutral principles." See id. at 436-44.

¹³ For just a few of the many examples in this record, see CP 2355–56 ("Do you have any suggestions on how to isolate [elder and corporate officer Neal Lampi] from the early decision-making process and from our intentions . . . ?"), 2307 (threat against resigning elder), 2360–61 (resignation letter). See also note 5 supra (former leaders' expert witness misrepresented church records in his declaration to the court).

depends on oversight by higher councils, which (among other things) hold local leaders accountable. The former leaders seek to destroy that oversight and accountability.

Contrary to the former leaders' argument that the polity rule favors hierarchical religious organizations, that rule simply allocates decision-making authority to the appropriate body within a religious organization. If a religious organization is congregational, then the congregation stands alone as the situs of authority. This is not true of hierarchical churches that, like the Church, have higher councils within the denomination making decisions on church governance and other matters. As already noted, the polity approach is also consistent with how Washington courts have treated disputes within *non-religious* organizations having a hierarchical structure.

D. The former leaders cannot prevail under the rule they espouse.

The former leaders assert that they "will prevail under a neutral-principles analysis," Pet. at 3 n.1, but that is simply not true. First, the Schulzes cannot prevail on their severance claim because courts *must* defer to the AC's resolution of the ecclesiastical questions underlying that claim. Every case that the Schulzes cite, including those from "neutral principles" jurisdictions, supports the trial court's declaratory judgment denying their severance claim and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming that judgment. *See* Brief of Respondents at 28–36.

Second, the former leaders' repeated failures to comply with the articles and bylaws of FPCS made their secession ineffective as a matter of corporate law even if the impermissibility of secession under the Church constitution is ignored. For example, the former leaders could not elect themselves trustees of FPCS or amend the bylaws, because the articles and bylaws reserved both powers to the congregation. The bylaw amendments the former leaders tried to adopt also violated the articles of incorporation. The former leaders failed to give proper notice of a member meeting, so no business could validly be conducted at the meetings on November 15, 2015. And even if there had been a valid vote to secede, the former leaders would thereby have forfeited all property of FPCS to the Church. *See* Brief of Respondents at 47–64.

V. CONCLUSION

The former leaders fail to show any basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Their petition for review should be denied.